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Commonwealth Court entered May 7,
1997, at No. 2865 C.D. 1996, reversing
the Order of the Court of Common Pleas
of Fayette County, Civil Division, entered
September 26, 1996 at No. 1926 of 1995
G.D.

694 A.2d 659 (Pa. Commw. 1997)
ARGUED: September 14, 1998

No. 2 W.D. Appeal Docket 1998

No. 4 W.D. Appeal Docket 1998

OPINION OF THE COURT

MR. JUSTICE CASTILLE

DECIDED: JULY 7, 1999

The sole issue before this Court is whether the Public Employe Relations Act

(PERA)! covers a union employee who applies for a non-promotion management position

outside of the bargaining unit. Because we find that PERA applies to a union employee

until such time as the individual ceases to be a union employee, we reverse the

Commonwealth Court.

143 P.S. §1101.101 et seq.



Appellant DeFino was employed by appellee as a classroom teacher and guidance
counselor at Benjamin Franklin School, an elementary school within the jurisdictional limits
of appellee school district. Appellee is a public employer within the meaning of 8 301(1)
of PERA.?> DeFino is a member of appellant Uniontown Area Education Association
(Association), which is an employee organization within the meaning of § 301(3) of PERA.?
While employed by the school district, DeFino was an active member of the Association,
serving as president-elect, president, chief negotiator and grievance committee
chairperson.

In 1990, the principal of Benjamin Franklin School became ill, and the school board
appointed DeFino as acting principal for the remainder of the school year. The principal
resigned at the end of the 1990-91 school year at which time the school board posted and
advertised the vacancy. The school board interviewed DeFino and one other individual,
an elementary principal in a neighboring school district, to fill the principal position. Both
candidates were questioned about their experience, managerial style, attitude toward
evaluating teachers, salary and willingness to transfer to another school. DeFino, but not
the other candidate, was asked about her union activities and her ability to make the
transition from union official to school administrator.* At the conclusion of the interview
process, the school board appointed the other candidate to the position.

DeFino and the Association filed an unfair labor practice charge with the

Pennsylvania Labor Relations Board (PLRB) claiming that appellee violated PERA by

243 P.S. § 1101.301(1).
343 P.S. § 1101.301(3).
* There is no indication that the other candidate, who was already in a managerial position,

had previously been involved in union activities or that any questions were posed of this
candidate about any prior union involvement.
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discriminating against DeFino based upon her union activities. A hearing examiner
conducted hearings on July 6, 1992, May 19, 1993, October 21, 1993, February 13, 1994,
and May 2, 1994, and dismissed the charges on April 4, 1995. DeFino and the Association
filed exceptions, which the PLRB sustained, holding that appellee had violated 43 P.S. §
1101.1201(a)(1) and (a)(3) which prohibit a public employer from interfering with an
employee’s rights to be involved in an organized labor organization or from discriminating
against an employee based upon the exercise of those rights. Appellee appealed to the
common pleas court which affirmed the PLRB’s decision. On appeal, the Commonwealth
Court reversed holding that, because DeFino applied for a management position, she was
not entitled to the protections of PERA during the application process.

The pertinent section of PERA provides:

(a) Public employers, their agents or representatives are

prohibited from:

(1) Interfering, restraining or coercing employes in the exercise
of their rights guaranteed in Article IV of this act.’

* * *

(3) Discriminating in regard to hire or tenure of employment or

any term or condition of employment to encourage or

discourage membership in any employe organization.

(footnote supplied)

43 P.S. § 1101.1201.

® Article IV of the Act provides:
It shall be lawful for public employes to organize, form, join or
assist in employe organizations or to engage in lawful
concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or
other mutual aid and protection or to bargain collectively
through representatives of their own free choice and such
employes shall also have the right to refrain from any or all
such activities, except as may be required pursuant to a
maintenance of membership provision in a collective
bargaining agreement.

43 P.S. § 1101.401.
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Appellants argue that appellee discriminated against DeFino in filling the vacant
principal position based upon her union activities in violation of § 1201 given that she was
the only candidate questioned about union activities and the position was awarded to the
other candidate. Appellee concedes that DeFino’s union activities and appellee’s belief
that union sympathies would interfere with her ability to perform as a principal were factors
leading to the hiring of the other candidate. Thus, appellee counters with the theory that
PERA does not protect a public employee from anti-union animus when that employee
applies for a management position that is not a promotional opportunity within the scope
of the collective bargaining agreement. Therefore, this Court must determine whether
PERA provides protections to a public employee who is a union member when the
employee seeks a non-union, management position.

Logic dictates that a public employee who is a member of an employee organization
is protected by PERA so long as the employee remains a member of the organization.
Indeed, federal courts faced with the same issue in cases under the National Labor
Relations Act® have held that a protected employee does not lose the protections of the Act

simply by applying for a position outside the protections of the Act. See, e.g., Golden State

Bottling Co. v. National Labor Relations Board, 414 U.S. 168, 188 (1973) (quoting with

approval Golden State Bottling Co. v. National Labor Relations Board, 467 F.2d 164, 166

(9™ Cir. 1972) (“The Act's remedies are not thwarted by the fact than an employee who is
within the Act’s protections when the discrimination occurs would have been promoted or
transferred to a position not covered by the Act if he had not been discriminated against.”));

Oil, Chemical and Atomic Workers International v. National Labor Relations Board, 547

F.2d 575, 589 (4™ Cir. 1976) (union protections extend to a member during the process of

®29 U.S.C. § 151 et seq. The Act is similar to PERA in all material respects concerning
protection of employees.
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applying for a non-union supervisory position) cert. denied sub nom Angle v. NLRB, 431

U.S. 966 (1977); Osteopathic Hospital Founders Association v. National Labor Relations

Board, 618 F.2d 633, 636 (10™ Cir. 1980) (recognizing that to fail to promote to a

managerial position based upon union activities violates the Act); National Labor Relations

Board v. Bell Aircraft Corp., 206 F.2d 235, 237 (2° Cir. 1953); Lancaster Fairfield

Community Hospital, 311 N.L.R.B. 401 at *1 (1993) (employer violated Act by refusing to

promote employee to supervisory position due to union activities); St. Anne’s Hospital, 245

N.L.R.B. 1009 at *4 (1979) (failure to promote to supervisory position due to union activities

was clear violation of the Act); Little Lake Industries, 233 N.L.R.B. 1049 at *42 (denying

employer a promotion to a supervisory job is an unfair labor practice in violation of the Act).

The employee in Golden State Bottling Co. v. National Labor Relations Board, 414

U.S. 168, 188 (1973), was a driver-salesman and a protected employee under the National
Labor Relations Act at the time he was discriminatorily discharged. At or around the time
of his discharge, the employer converted all driver-salesman positions to “independent
contractor” positions rendering the drivers ineligible as non-employees for the protections
of the Act. The United States Supreme Court held that the protections of the Act apply with
equal force to an employee who, but for the discriminatory conduct, would no longer be in
a protected position. Id. at 188.

Similarly, in Bell Aircraft, the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit,
responding to an employer’s argument that the National Labor Relations Act did not protect

an employee who applied for a supervisory and therefore non-protected position, stated:

But, even if we assume, arguendo, that an applicant for a
supervisory position who was not already an employee of this
particular employer would not have been a protected employee
under the Act, it does not follow that [the instant employee] was
similarly not protected. At the time the discrimination took
place he was clearly a protected employee, and his prospects
for promotion were among the conditions of his employment.
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The Act protected him so long as he held a nonsupervisory
position, and it is immaterial that the protection thereby
afforded was calculated to enable him to obtain a position in
which he would no longer be protected.

206 F.2d at 237.

There is no dispute that DeFino was protected by PERA at the time she applied for
the principal position, nor that the prospects of advancement were an implicit condition of
her employment. We are persuaded by the reasoning of the federal courts in the
analogous cited cases involving the National Labor Relations Act. Thus, the fact that had
DeFino been awarded the position she would no longer have been protected by PERA is
immaterial to a determination of whether she was protected during the application process.
We find, therefore, that an employee who, at the time the discrimination in promotion
occurs is protected by PERA, is protected throughout the application process and until such
time as the employee is advanced to a non-protected position. To hold otherwise would
emasculate the protections PERA provides to public employees by limiting their ability to
seek promotions to management positions.

Accordingly, the decision of the Commonwealth Court is reversed, and this matter
is remanded to the Commonwealth Court for consideration of those issues raised by the
parties on appeal to the Commonwealth Court but not previously addressed by the

Commonwealth Court due to its finding that no unfair labor practice had been committed.
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